

# This is an official **CDC Health Update**

Distributed via Health Alert Network March 28, 2020 1:00 PM 10454-CHU-03-28-2020-COVID-19

## Severe Illness Associated with Using Non-Pharmaceutical Chloroquine Phosphate to Prevent and Treat Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

#### Summary

Chloroquine phosphate, when used without a prescription and supervision of a healthcare provider, can cause serious health consequences, including death. Clinicians should discourage the public from misusing non-pharmaceutical chloroquine phosphate (a chemical used in home aquariums). Clinicians should advise patients and the public that chloroquine, and the related compound hydroxychloroquine, should be used only under the supervision of a healthcare provider as prescribed medications.

### Background

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has become aware of two individuals who ingested non-pharmaceutical chloroquine phosphate, a chemical for aquarium use that is commercially available for purchase at stores and through internet websites. One of the individuals died shortly after arrival to the hospital. The second individual was critically ill with severe gastrointestinal symptoms and cardiac conduction abnormalities. Upon recovery, the surviving individual reported to the media that they ingested the product to prevent infection with SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), after seeing information on the medical use of chloroquine on television. The product in their possession was in powder form inside a 2.2-lb. container and labeled "for Ornamental Fish Use Only". CDC is also aware of unconfirmed media reports that these commercially available aquarium-use chemicals may be out of stock due to potential increased demand by the public.

At this time, there are no routinely available pharmaceutical products that are FDA-approved for the prevention or treatment of COVID-19. Pharmaceutical chloroquine phosphate and hydroxychloroquine sulfate are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat specific medical conditions, such as malaria, lupus, and rheumatoid arthritis. Currently, these medications are being studied and evaluated as treatment for COVID-19; however, their efficacy to either prevent or treat this infection are unknown. In overdose situations or when used inappropriately, these medications can lead to severe toxicity, including cardiac rhythm disturbances such as prolonged QT, severe hypokalemia, cardiovascular collapse, seizures, coma, and death. Inappropriate uses include taking commercially available non-pharmaceutical preparations, taking chloroquine phosphate or hydroxychloroquine sulfate without a prescription, and taking additional doses not recommended by a healthcare provider. Chloroquine phosphate has a narrow therapeutic index—it can be toxic at levels not much higher than those used for treatment—which raises the risk of inadvertent overdose.

## **Recommendations for Clinicians**

1. Educate patients on the serious risks of misusing non-pharmaceutical chloroquine products and other aquarium use chemicals.

2. Counsel your patients on the importance of taking medications only as prescribed and as directed by healthcare providers.

3. Contact your local poison center (1-800-222-1222) to report cases and to obtain specific medical management of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine poisoning.

4. Adverse events related to pharmaceuticals can be reported to the FDA MedWatch program (<u>https://www.fda.gov/safety/medwatch-fda-safety-information-and-adverse-event-reporting-program</u>). Adverse events related to non-pharmaceutical products can be reported by emailing <u>FDA-COVID-19Fraudulent-Products@fda.hhs.gov</u> or calling 1-888-InfoFDA (1-888-463-6332).

## **Recommendations for the Public**

1. Do not ingest aquarium use products or any other chemicals that contain chloroquine phosphate. These chemicals are not intended for human consumption and can lead to serious health consequences, including death.

2. Medications like chloroquine phosphate and hydroxychloroquine sulfate should be taken only when prescribed by and under the supervision of your healthcare provider and always according to the instructions provided.

3. Seek immediate medical attention if you are experiencing any unexpected symptoms after taking chloroquine or hydroxychloroquine by contacting your healthcare provider or your poison center (1800-222-1222).

For More Information

- CDC coronavirus website (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus</u>)
- U.S. Government coronavirus website (<u>https://www.coronavirus.gov/</u>)
- FDA Letter to Stakeholders (<u>https://www.fda.gov/animal-veterinary/product-</u> safetyinformation/fda-letter-stakeholders-do-not-use-chloroquine-phosphate-intended-fishtreatmentcovid-19-humans)

• Banner Health (Phoenix, AZ) press release

(https://bannerhealth.mediaroom.com/chloroquinephosphate)

• Dailymed (<u>https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/index.cfm</u>) for medical prescribing information

- American College of Medical Toxicology (<u>https://www.acmt.net</u>) for poisoning information
- Association of American Poison Control Centers (<u>https://www.aapcc.org</u>)

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) protects people's health and safety by preventing and controlling diseases and injuries; enhances health decisions by providing credible information on critical health issues; and promotes healthy living through strong partnerships with local, national, and international organizations.

## DHEC contact information for reportable diseases and reporting requirements

Reporting of <u>Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)</u> as a <u>Novel Infectious Agent</u> is consistent with South Carolina Law requiring the reporting of diseases and conditions to your state or local

public health department. (State Law # 44-29-10 and Regulation # 61-20) as per the DHEC 2020 List of Reportable Conditions available at: https://www.scdhec.gov/sites/default/files/Library/CR-009025.pdf

Federal HIPAA legislation allows disclosure of protected health information, without consent of the individual, to public health authorities to collect and receive such information for the purpose of preventing or controlling disease. (HIPAA 45 CFR §164.512).

| Mail or call reports to the Epidemiol<br>MAIL OR FAX TO:  | logy Office in each Public Health Re   | egion  |   |
|---|--|--|---|
| Lowcountry<br>Allendale, Bamberg, Beaufort,<br>Berkeley, Calhoun, Charleston,<br>Colleton, Dorchester, Hampton, Jasper,<br>Orangeburg | Midlands<br>Aiken, Barnwell, Chester, Edgefield,<br>Fairfield, Kershaw, Lancaster,<br>Lexington, Newberry, Richland,<br>Saluda, York | Pee Dee<br>Clarendon, Chesterfield,<br>Darlington, Dillon, Florence,<br>Georgetown, Horry, Lee, Marion,<br>Marlboro, Sumter, Williamsburg  | Upstate<br>Abbeville, Anderson, Cherokee,<br>Greenville, Greenwood,<br>Laurens, McCormick, Oconee,<br>Pickens, Spartanburg, Union |
| 4050 Bridge View Drive, Suite 600<br>N. Charleston, SC 29405<br>Fax: (843) 953-0051   | 2000 Hampton Street<br>Columbia, SC 29204<br>Fax: (803) 576-2993   | 1931 Industrial Park Road<br>Conway, SC 29526<br>Fax: (843) 915-6502<br>Fax2: (843) 915-6506   | 200 University Ridge<br>Greenville, SC 29602<br>Fax: (864) 282-4373   |
| CALL TO:  | -  |  |   |
| Lowcountry  | Midlands   | Pee Dee  | Upstate   |
| Office: (843) 441-1091<br>Nights/Weekends: (843) 441-1091   | Office: (888) 801-1046<br>Nights/Weekends: (888) 801-1046  | Office: (843) 915-8886<br>Nights/Weekends: (843) 915-8845  | Office: (864) 372-3133<br>Nights/Weekends: (864) 423-6644   |
| For information on reportable conditions, see<br>https://www.scdhec.gov/ReportableConditions  |  | DHEC Bureau of CommunicableDisease Prevention & ControlDivision of Acute Disease Epidemiology2100 Bull St · Columbia, SC 29201Phone: (803) 898-0861 · Fax: (803) 898-0897Nights / Weekends: 1-888-847-0902 |   |

Categories of Health Alert messages:

Health AlertConveys the highest level of importance; warrants immediate action or attention.Health AdvisoryProvides important information for a specific incident or situation; may not require immediate action.Health UpdateProvides updated information regarding an incident or situation; unlikely to require immediate action.Info ServiceProvides general information that is not necessarily considered to be of an emergent nature.